

ADOPTED: 1 February 2023 doi: 10.2903/j.efsa.2023.7869

Safety of a feed additive consisting of a tincture derived from the roots of *Gentiana lutea* L. (gentian tincture) for all animal species (FEFANA asbl)

EFSA Panel on Additives and Products or Substances used in Animal Feed (FEEDAP), Vasileios Bampidis, Giovanna Azimonti, Maria de Lourdes Bastos, Henrik Christensen, Mojca Durjava, Maryline Kouba, Marta López-Alonso, Secundino López Puente, Francesca Marcon, Baltasar Mayo, Alena Pechová, Mariana Petkova, Fernando Ramos, Yolanda Sanz, Roberto Edoardo Villa, Ruud Woutersen, Paul Brantom, Andrew Chesson, Johannes Westendorf, Paola Manini, Fabiola Pizzo and Birgit Dusemund

Abstract

Following a request from the European Commission, EFSA was asked to deliver a scientific opinion on the safety of a tincture derived from Gentiana lutea L. (gentian tincture). It is intended to be used as a sensory additive for all animal species. The product is a water/ethanol solution, with a dry matter content of approximately 4.3% and it contains on average 0.0836% polyphenols (of which 0.0463% are flavonoids and 0.0027% xanthones) and 0.0022% gentiopicroside. The additive is intended for use in complete feed or drinking water up to a maximum level of 50 mg tincture/kg for all animal species, except horses, for which the proposed use is 200 mg/kg in complete feed. In a previous assessment, due to the genotoxic potential identified in vitro for xanthones (gentisin and isogentisin) and gentiopicroside the Panel on Additives and Products or Substances used in Animal Feed (FEEDAP) could not conclude on the safety of the additive for long-living animals and on risks of genotoxicity and carcinogenicity for dermal exposure of unprotected users. The additive did not raise safety concern for short-living animals, consumers and the environment. The applicant has provided information in the form of literature to address the previously identified genotoxic activity of xanthones and gentiopicroside and the risk for the user. Considering that the literature identified provided no new evidence, the FEEDAP Panel reiterated that it is not in a position to conclude on the safety of the additive for long-living and reproductive animals. No conclusions could be drawn on the potential of the additive to be a dermal/eye irritant or a skin sensitiser. When handling the tincture, exposure of unprotected users to xanthones (gentisin and isogentisin) and gentiopicroside cannot be excluded. Therefore, to reduce the risk, the exposure of the users should be minimised.

© 2023 European Food Safety Authority. *EFSA Journal* published by Wiley-VCH GmbH on behalf of European Food Safety Authority.

Keywords: sensory additives, flavouring compounds, *Gentiana lutea* L., tincture, gentian tincture, xanthones, gentiopicroside

Requestor: European Commission Question number: EFSA-Q-2022-00466 Correspondence: feedap@efsa.europa.eu **Panel members:** Vasileios Bampidis, Giovanna Azimonti, Maria de Lourdes Bastos, Henrik Christensen, Birgit Dusemund, Mojca Durjava, Maryline Kouba, Marta López-Alonso, Secundino López Puente, Francesca Marcon, Baltasar Mayo, Alena Pechová, Mariana Petkova, Fernando Ramos, Yolanda Sanz, Roberto Edoardo Villa and Ruud Woutersen.

Declarations of interest: If you wish to access the declaration of interests of any expert contributing to an EFSA scientific assessment, please contact interestmanagement@efsa.europa.eu.

Acknowledgements: The Panel wishes to thank the following for the support provided to this scientific output (in alphabetical order of the last name): Montserrat Anguita, Yvette Dirven and Matteo Lorenzo Innocenti.

Suggested citation: EFSA FEEDAP Panel (EFSA Panel on Additives and Products or Substances used in Animal Feed), Bampidis V, Azimonti G, Bastos ML, Christensen H, Durjava M, Kouba M, López-Alonso M, López Puente S, Marcon F, Mayo B, Pechová A, Petkova M, Ramos F, Sanz Y, Villa RE, Woutersen R, Brantom P, Chesson A, Westendorf J, Manini P, Pizzo F and Dusemund B, 2023. Scientific Opinion on the safety of a feed additive consisting of a tincture derived from the roots of *Gentiana lutea* L. (gentian tincture) for all animal species (FEFANA asbl). EFSA Journal 2023;21(2):7869, 9 pp. https://doi.org/10.2903/j.efsa.2023.7869

ISSN: 1831-4732

© 2023 European Food Safety Authority. *EFSA Journal* published by Wiley-VCH GmbH on behalf of European Food Safety Authority.

This is an open access article under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution-NoDerivs License, which permits use and distribution in any medium, provided the original work is properly cited and no modifications or adaptations are made.

EFSA may include images or other content for which it does not hold copyright. In such cases, EFSA indicates the copyright holder and users should seek permission to reproduce the content from the original source.



The EFSA Journal is a publication of the European Food Safety Authority, a European agency funded by the European Union.



Table of contents

Abstract			
1.	Introduction		
1.1.	Background and Terms of Reference as provided by the requestor	4	
1.2.	Additional information	4	
2.	Data and methodologies	5	
2.1.	Data		
2.2.	Methodologies	5	
3.	Assessment		
3.1.	Characterisation of the additive	5	
3.2.	Safety	6	
3.2.1.	Toxicological studies	6	
3.2.1.1.	Genotoxicity studies, including mutagenicity	6	
3.2.1.2.	Other studies		
3.2.1.3.	Conclusions on genotoxicity	7	
3.2.2.	Safety for the target species		
3.2.3.	Safety for the user	7	
4.	Conclusions	7	
5.	Recommendations	8	
Reference	References		
Abbreviations			

1. Introduction

1.1. Background and Terms of Reference as provided by the requestor

Regulation (EC) No 1831/2003¹ establishes the rules governing the Community authorisation of additives for use in animal nutrition and, in particular, Article 9 defined the term of the authorisation by the Commission.

The applicant FEFANA asbl^{2,3} is seeking a Community authorisation of the product gentian tincture (*Gentiana lutea* L.) to be used as a flavouring additive in feed for all animal species (Table 1).

Table 1: Description of the substances

Category of additive	Sensory additives
Functional group of additive	Flavourings
Description	Gentian tincture
Target animal category	All animal species
Applicant	FEFANA asbl
Type of request	New opinion

On 18 March 2021, the Panel on Additives and Products or Substances used in Animal Feed of the European Food Safety Authority ("Authority"), in its opinion on the safety and efficacy of the product, could not conclude on the safety of the product.

The Commission gave the possibility to the applicant to submit supplementary information and data in order to complete the assessment and to allow a revision of EFSA's opinion. The new data have been received on 18 July 2022.

In view of the above, the Commission asks EFSA to issue a new opinion on the safety of *Gentiana lutea* L. (gentian tincture) from Botanically defined flavourings BDG 12 – Gentianales as a feed additive for all animal species based on the additional data submitted by the applicant, in accordance with Article 29(1) (a) of Regulation (EC) 178/2000.

1.2. Additional information

The FEEDAP Panel issued an opinion on the safety and efficacy of gentian tincture derived from the roots of *G. lutea* L. when used as a sensory additive in feed for all animal species (EFSA FEEDAP Panel, 2021). Considering the potential concern for genotoxicity identified *in vitro* for the constituents xanthones (gentisin and isogentisin) and gentiopicroside, and the lack of an appropriate *in vivo* test, the FEEDAP Panel could not conclude on the safety of the additive for 'long-living animals (companion animals, horses and animals for reproduction)^{r4} and on risks of genotoxicity and carcinogenicity for dermal exposure of users. No safety concern was identified for short-living animals (animals for fattening), for consumers and the environment. The applicant has now provided information intended to address the concerns previously identified for long-living animals and the user regarding the genotoxic potential of xanthones and gentiopicroside.

A tincture from *G. lutea* L. (gentian tincture) is currently authorised as a feed additive according to the entry in the European Union Register of Feed Additives pursuant to Regulation (EC) No 1831/2003 (2b natural products – botanically defined).

¹ Regulation (EC) No 1831/2003 of the European Parliament and of the council of 22 September 2003 on the additives for use in animal nutrition. OJ L 268, 18.10.2003, p. 29.

² FEFANA asbl, Avenue Louise 130 A, Box 1, 1,050 Brussels, Belgium.

³ On 27 February 2019, EFSA was informed by the applicant about the transfer of contact point for this application to Manghebati SAS, zone de la Basse Haye – BP 42133–35,221 Chateaubourg Cedex.

⁴ Referred in this opinion to as long-living animals and reproductive animals (including those animals reared for laying/breeding/ reproduction).

2. Data and methodologies

2.1. Data

The present assessment is based on data submitted by the applicant in the form of supplementary information⁵ to a previous application on the same product.⁶

In accordance with Article 38 of the Regulation (EC) No 178/2002⁷ and taking into account the protection of confidential information and of personal data in accordance with Articles 39 to 39 e of the same Regulation, and of the Decision of EFSA's Executive Director laying down practical arrangements concerning transparency and confidentiality,⁸ a non-confidential version of the supplementary information has been published on Open.EFSA.⁹

The FEEDAP Panel used the data provided by the applicant, together with data from other sources, such as previous risk assessments by EFSA or other expert bodies, peer-reviewed scientific papers, other scientific reports and experts' knowledge, to deliver the present output.

2.2. Methodologies

The approach followed by the FEEDAP Panel to assess the safety and the efficacy of gentian tincture is in line with the principles laid down in Regulation (EC) No 429/2008¹⁰ and the relevant guidance documents: Guidance on studies concerning the safety of use of the additive for users/ workers (EFSA FEEDAP Panel, 2012), Guidance on the assessment of the safety of feed additives for the target species (EFSA FEEDAP Panel, 2017), Genotoxicity testing strategies applicable to food and feed safety assessment (EFSA Scientific Committee, 2011), Clarification of some aspects related to genotoxicity assessment (EFSA Scientific assessments (EFSA Scientific Committee, 2017a) Guidance on the assessment of the biological relevance of data in scientific assessments (EFSA Scientific Committee, 2017b), Guidance document on harmonised methodologies for human health, animal health and ecological risk assessment of combined exposure to multiple chemicals (EFSA Scientific Committee, 2019b), Statement on the genotoxicity assessment of chemical mixtures (EFSA Scientific Committee, 2019b), Guidance on the use of the Threshold of Toxicological Concern approach in food safety assessment (EFSA Scientific Committee, 2019c), General approach to assess the safety for the target species of botanical preparations which contain compounds that are genotoxic and/or carcinogenic when used as feed additives (EFSA FEEDAP Panel, 2021).¹¹

3. Assessment

The additive under assessment, gentian tincture, is produced from the roots of *G. lutea* L. by extended extraction with a water/ethanol mixture. The additive is intended for use as sensory additive (functional group: flavouring compounds) up to a maximum level of 50 mg tincture/kg complete feed or 50 mg tincture/kg water for drinking for all animal species, except horses, for which the proposed use level is 200 mg/kg complete feed.

3.1. Characterisation of the additive

The additive was previously shown to contain 95.7% water/ethanol solvent and a dry matter content of about 4.3% (EFSA FEEDAP Panel, 2021). The identified constituents of the dry matter fraction were ash (0.10% of the tincture) and 0.0836% polyphenols (of which 0.0463% are flavonoids and 0.0027% xanthones) and 0.0022% gentiopicroside.

⁵ Dossier reference: EFSA-Q-2022-00466.

⁶ Dossier reference: FAD-2010-0321.

⁷ Regulation (EC) No 178/2002 of the European Parliament and of the Council of 28 January 2002 laying down the general principles and requirements of food law, establishing the European Food Safety Authority and laying down procedures in matters of food safety. OJ L 31, 1.2.2002, p.1–48.

⁸ Decision available at: https://www.efsa.europa.eu/en/corporate-pubs/transparency-regulation-practical-arrangements

⁹ Available at: https://open.efsa.europa.eu/questions/EFSA-Q-2022-00466

¹⁰ Commission Regulation (EC) No 429/2008 of 25 April 2008 on detailed rules for the implementation of Regulation (EC) No 1831/2003 of the European Parliament and of the Council as regards the preparation and the presentation of applications and the assessment and the authorisation of feed additives. OJ L 133, 22.5.2008, p. 1.

¹¹ https://www.efsa.europa.eu/sites/default/files/2021-05/general-approach-assessment-botanical-preparations-containing-genotoxiccarcinogenic-compounds.pdf

3.2. Safety

In the previous opinion, the FEEDAP Panel assessed the genotoxicity of the gentian tincture, following the recommendation of the EFSA Scientific Committee (EFSA SC) on the Genotoxicity assessment of chemical mixtures (EFSA Scientific Committee, 2019b) and the principles set in the scientific opinion on genotoxicity testing strategies applicable to food and feed safety assessment (EFSA Scientific Committee, 2011) and in the opinion on the clarification of some aspects related to genotoxicity assessment (EFSA Scientific Committee, 2017a). The Panel concluded that 'the mixture under assessment contains individual components, the xanthones gentisin and isogentisin and gentiopicroside, for which *in vitro* data indicate a potential concern for genotoxicity'. Based on the Statement on Genotoxicity assessment of chemical mixtures (EFSA Scientific Committee, 2019b), when a potential concern for genotoxicity is identified *in vitro*, additional *in vivo* genotoxicity data are needed to complete the assessment.

In the risk assessment for target animal species, in a worst-case scenario, xanthones and gentiopicroside were assumed by the FEEDAP Panel to be genotoxic. Then, the Panel followed the general approach to assess the safety for the target species of botanical preparations containing substances that are genotoxic and/or carcinogenic (EFSA FEEDAP Panel, 2021) and applied the threshold of toxicological concern (TTC).

For substances that have the potential to be mutagenic, i.e. xanthones and gentiopicroside, the TTC concept was applied in a specified way, considering the different lifespan of the target species and the biological relevance of genotoxicity and carcinogenicity as endpoints (EFSA FEEDAP Panel, 2021). For long-living animals and reproductive animals (including those animals reared for laying/breeding/ reproduction), considering their long lifespan and the likelihood to develop cancer, the threshold of the TTC of 0.0025 μ g/kg body weight (bw) per day was applied. For short-living animals (animals for fattening), the TTC for non-genotoxic substances was applied when comparing estimated exposures with the relevant thresholds established based on non-neoplastic endpoints. Xanthones and gentiopicroside were allocated to Cramer class III.

For short-living animals, the intake at the proposed use level was below the TTC value for Cramer class III compounds, suggesting that the use of the additive did not raise safety concern.

For long-living animals and reproductive animals, the intake of xanthones and gentiopicroside at the proposed use level of the additive in feed exceeded the TTC value of 0.0025 μ g/kg bw per day. Therefore, no conclusion could be drawn, and generation of further data would have been required.

The incomplete data set on the genotoxicity of the additive did not allow conclusions to be drawn on the risks of genotoxicity and carcinogenicity from dermal exposure of users. In addition, in the absence of data the Panel could not conclude on the additive's potential to be a dermal/eye irritant or a skin sensitiser.

The additional information provided in response to the previous opinion was assessed and the outcome is summarised in the next section.

3.2.1. Toxicological studies

3.2.1.1. Genotoxicity studies, including mutagenicity

In the previous assessment, the Panel highlighted the need of *in vivo* genotoxicity data to address the potential concern identified *in vitro* for the individual components, the xanthones and gentiopicroside.

The applicant provided a literature search on the genotoxicity of extracts of *G. lutea* and its individual components gentiopicroside, gentisin and isogentisin.¹² Some publications on the metabolism of gentiopicroside were also provided.

The papers retrieved on the extracts of *G. lutea* reported *in vitro* studies with the Comet assay (Djukanovic et al., 2019; Valenta Šobot et al., 2020; Cvetković et al., 2020a,b, 2022).

Two studies addressed the *in vitro* genotoxicity of gentiopicroside. The first study was aimed at investigating the antigenotoxic potential of *G. lutea* extracts and of the component gentiopicroside (Cvetković et al., 2020b). The results of the alkaline comet assay showed that gentiopicroside induced DNA damage at the highest concentration tested (50 μ g/mL). The second study was already considered in the previous assessment (Mustafayeva et al., 2010) and the Panel disagreed with the interpretation of the results given by the study authors, i.e. that oxidative DNA damage would be

¹² Technical Dossier/Annex I_Bibliographic data concerning genotoxicity and carcinogenicity of gentiana lutea extract.

responsible for the mutagenic effect of gentiopicroside. Based on the increase of DNA damage observed with the Comet assay and the statistically significant dose-related increase of micronuclei (in the absence and presence of metabolic activation for both tests) the Panel already concluded that gentiopicroside may act as a genotoxic DNA reactive mutagen (EFSA FEEDAP Panel, 2021).

Concerning gentiopicroside, the *in vivo* studies retrieved were dealing on metabolism (Chang-Liao et al., 2012; Feng et al., 2014; Han et al., 2014; Wang et al., 2014, 2015, 2020; Xiong et al., 2017). The data indicated that gentiopicroside is hydrolysed by β -glucosidase in the gastrointestinal tract to produce the hemiacetalaglycone, which was readily converted by ring opening to a dialdehyde intermediate metabolite (Han et al., 2014). This reactive metabolite can react with proteins and DNA to form covalent mono-adducts and crosslinks. This reaction is typical for the chemical group of iridoids, to which gentiopicroside belongs. In addition, the *in vivo* study confirmed the formation of DNA reactive metabolites with α , β -unsaturated carbonyl functions, observed *in vitro* after treatment of gentiopicroside with β -glucosidase (Zeng et al., 2013). The α , β -unsaturated carbonyl functions represent structural alerts for genotoxic activity, as described in the previous opinion (EFSA FEEDAP Panel, 2021). The formation of covalent adducts of gentiopicroside with DNA could be responsible for the genotoxic activity.

No studies were retrieved on the genotoxicity of xanthones.

Overall, the information retrieved from the literature did not include appropriate *in vivo* genotoxicity tests for the individual components, the xanthones, gentisin and isogentisin, and gentiopicroside, for which *in vitro* data indicate a potential concern for genotoxicity.

3.2.1.2. Other studies

Other studies investigating the clinical effects (Anour et al., 2005) and the anti-inflammatory properties of herbal drugs including gentian root (Jund et al., 2012; Wölfle et al., 2017) were considered not relevant for the current assessment.

3.2.1.3. Conclusions on genotoxicity

No new data were submitted on the *in vivo* genotoxicity of xanthones and gentiopicroside that would allow the FEEDAP Panel to change its previous conclusion on the genotoxicity of the additive under assessment.

3.2.2. Safety for the target species

In the absence of data on the *in vivo* genotoxicity of xanthones and gentiopicroside, the FEEDAP Panel does not change its previous conclusions on the safety for the target species.

Therefore, the FEEDAP Panel reiterates that it is not in a position to conclude on the safety of the additive for long-living and reproductive animals.

3.2.3. Safety for the user

In the previous opinion (EFSA FEEDAP Panel, 2021), no conclusions could be drawn on the potential of the additive to be a dermal/eye irritant or a skin sensitiser. Owing to the concern for potential genotoxicity identified for some constituents, namely xanthones (gentisin and isogentisin) and gentiopicroside, the FEEDAP Panel could not conclude on risks of genotoxicity and carcinogenicity following dermal exposure of unprotected users.

The literature search performed by the applicant did not retrieve publications that addressed the concerns for irritancy, sensitisation and genotoxicity previously identified by the Panel.

Since no data on the irritancy and sensitisation were provided, the previous conclusions apply. The FEEDAP Panel notes that when handling the tincture, exposure of unprotected users to the potential genotoxicants xanthones (gentisin and isogentisin) and gentiopicroside cannot be excluded. Therefore, to reduce the risk, the exposure of the users should be minimised.

4. Conclusions

In the absence of appropriate *in vivo* genotoxicity tests on xanthones and gentiopicroside, the FEEDAP Panel reiterates that it is not in a position to conclude on the safety of the additive for long-living and reproductive animals (including those animals reared for laying/breeding/reproduction).

No conclusions can be drawn on the potential of the additive to be a dermal/eye irritant or a skin sensitiser. When handling the tincture, exposure of unprotected users to the potential genotoxicants

gentiopicroside and xanthones (gentisin and isogentisin), cannot be excluded. Therefore, to reduce the risk, the exposure of the users should be minimised.

5. Recommendations

The specification should ensure that the concentration of xanthones and gentiopicroside in gentian tincture should be as low as possible and should not exceed 0.0027% xanthones and 0.0022% gentiopicroside.

References

- Anour R, Leinker S and van den Hoven R, 2005. Improvement of the lung function of horses with heaves by treatment with a botanical preparation for 14 days. Veterinary Record, 157, 733–736. https://doi.org/10.1136/ vr.157.23.733
- Chang-Liao WL, Chien CF, Lin LC and Tsai TH, 2012. Isolation of gentiopicroside from Gentianae Radix and its pharmacokinetics on liver ischemia/reperfusion rats. Journal of Ethnopharmacology, 141, 668–673. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jep.2011.08.001
- Cvetković S, Todorović S, Nastasijević B, Mitić-Ćulafić D, Đukanović S, Knežević-Vukčević J and Nikolić B, 2020a. Assessment of genoprotective effects of *Gentiana lutea* extracts prepared from plants grown in field and *in vitro*. Industrial Crops and Products, 154, 112690. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.indcrop.2020.112690
- Cvetković S, Nastasijević B, Mitić-Ćulafić D, Đukanović S, Tenji D, Knežević-Vukčević J and Nikolić B, 2020b. New insight into the antigenotoxic activity of *Gentiana lutea* extracts – Protective effect against food borne mutagens. Mutation Research/Genetic Toxicology and Environmental Mutagenesis, 858-860, 503251. https:// doi.org/10.1016/j.mrgentox.2020.503251
- Cvetković S, Vuletić S, Vunduk J, Klaus A, Mitić-Ćulafić D and Nikolić B, 2022. The role of *Gentiana lutea* extracts in reducing UV-induced DNA damage. Mutagenesis, 2022, geac006. https://doi.org/10.1093/mutage/geac006
- Djukanovic S, Cvetkovic S, Mitic-Culafic D, Knezevic-Vukcevic J and Nikolic B, 2019. Anti-genotoxic potential of Gentiana lutea extracts against the food sweetener saccharin. IOP Conference Series Earth Environmental Sciences, 333, 012059. https://doi.org/10.1088/1755-1315/333/1/012059
- EFSA FEEDAP Panel (EFSA Panel on Additives and Products or Substances used in Animal Feed), 2012. Guidance on studies concerning the safety of use of the additive for users/workers. EFSA Journal 2012;10(1):2539, 5 pp. https://doi.org/10.2903/j.efsa.2012.2539
- EFSA FEEDAP Panel (EFSA Panel on Additives and Products or Substances used in Animal Feed), Rychen G, Aquilina G, Azimonti G, Bampidis V, Bastos ML, Bories G, Chesson A, Cocconcelli PS, Flachowsky G, Gropp J, Kolar B, Kouba M, López-Alonso M, López Puente S, Mantovani A, Mayo B, Ramos F, Saarela M, Villa RE, Wallace RJ, Wester P, Anguita M, Galobart J, Innocenti ML and Martino L, 2017. Guidance on the assessment of the safety of feed additives for the target species. EFSA Journal 2017;15(10):5021, 19 pp. https://doi.org/10. 2903/j.efsa.2017.5021
- EFSA FEEDAP Panel (EFSA Panel on Additives and Products or Substances used in Animal Feed), 2021. General approach to assess the safety for the target species of botanical preparations which contain compounds that are genotoxic and/or carcinogenic. Available online: https://www.efsa.europa.eu/sites/default/files/2021-05/general-approach-assessment-botanical-preparations-containing-genotoxic-carcinogenic-compounds.pdf
- EFSA SC (EFSA Scientific Committee), 2011. Scientific Opinion on genotoxicity testing strategies applicable to food and feed safety assessment. EFSA Journal 2011;9(9):2379, 69 pp. https://doi.org/10.2903/j.efsa.2011.2379
- EFSA SC (EFSA Scientific Committee), Hardy A, Benford D, Halldorsson T, Jeger M, Knutsen HK, More S, Naegeli H, Noteborn H, Ockleford C, Ricci A, Rychen G, Silano V, Solecki R, Turck D, Younes M, Aquilina G, Crebelli R, Gürtler R, Hirsch-Ernst KI, Mosesso P, Nielsen E, van Benthem J, Carfi M, Georgiadis N, Maurici D, Parra Morte J and Schlatter J, 2017a. Scientific Opinion on the clarification of some aspects related to genotoxicity assessment. EFSA Journal 2017;15(12):5113, 25 pp. https://doi.org/10.2903/j.efsa.2017.5113
- EFSA Scientific Committee, Hardy A, Benford D, Halldorsson T, Jeger MJ, Knutsen HK, More S, Naegeli H, Noteborn H, Ockleford C, Ricci A, Rychen G, Schlatter JR, Silano V, Solecki R, Turck D, Younes M, Bresson J-L, Griffin J, Hougaard Benekou S, van Loveren H, Luttik R, Messean A, Penninks A, Ru G, Stegeman JA, van der Werf W, Westendorf J, Woutersen RA, Barizzone F, Bottex B, Lanzoni A, Georgiadis N and Alexander J, 2017b. Guidance on the assessment of the biological relevance of data in scientific assessments. EFSA Journal 2017;15 (8):4970, 73 pp. https://doi.org/10.2903/j.efsa.2017.4970
- EFSA SC (EFSA Scientific Committee), More SJ, Hardy A, Bampidis V, Benford D, Bennekou SH, Bragard C, Boesten J, Halldorsson TI, Hernandez-Jerez AF, Jeger MJ, Knutsen HK, Koutsoumanis KP, Naegeli H, Noteborn H, Ockleford C, Ricci A, Rychen G, Schlatter JR, Silano V, Nielsen SS, Schrenk D, Solecki R, Turck D, Younes M, Benfenati E, Castle L, Cedergreen N, Laskowski R, Leblanc JC, Kortenkamp A, Ragas A, Posthuma L, Svendsen C, Testai E, Dujardin B, Kass GEN, Manini P, Zare Jeddi M, Dorne J-LCM and Hogstrand C, 2019a. Guidance on harmonised methodologies for human health, animal health and ecological risk assessment of combined exposure to multiple chemicals. EFSA Journal 2019;17(3):5634, 77 pp. https://doi.org/10.2903/j.efsa.2019. 5634

- EFSA SC (EFSA Scientific Committee), More S, Bampidis V, Benford D, Boesten J, Bragard C, Halldorsson T, Hernandez-Jerez A, Hougaard-Bennekou S, Koutsoumanis K, Naegeli H, Nielsen SS, Schrenk D, Silano V, Turck D, Younes M, Aquilina G, Crebelli R, Gürtler R, Hirsch-Ernst KI, Mosesso P, Nielsen E, Solecki R, Carfi M, Martino C, Maurici D, Parra Morte J and Schlatter J, 2019b. Statement on the genotoxicity assessment of chemical mixtures. EFSA Journal 2019;17(1):5519, 11 pp. https://doi.org/10.2903/j.efsa.2019.5519
- EFSA SC (EFSA Scientific Committee), More SJ, Bampidis V, Benford D, Bragard C, Halldorsson TI, Hernandez-Jerez AF, Hougaard BS, Koutsoumanis KP, Machera K, Naegeli H, Nielsen SS, Schlatter JR, Schrenk D, Silano V, Turck D, Younes M, Gundert-Remy U, Kass GEN, Kleiner J, Rossi AM, Serafimova R, Reilly L and Wallace HM, 2019c. Guidance on the use of the Threshold of Toxicological Concern approach in food safety assessment. EFSA Journal 2019;17(6):5708, 17 pp. https://doi.org/10.2903/j.efsa.2019.5708
- Feng B, Zhu H, Guan J, Zhao L, Gu J, Yin L, Fawcett JP and Liu W, 2014. A rapid and sensitive UFLC-MS/MS method for the simultaneous determination of gentiopicroside and swertiamarin in rat plasma and its application in pharmacokinetics. Journal of Pharmacy and Pharmacology, 66, 1369–1376. https://doi.org/10. 1111/jphp.12266
- Han H, Xiong AZ, He CY, Liu Q, Yang L and Wang ZT, 2014. Combination of UHPLC/Q-TOF-MS, NMR spectroscopy, and ECD calculation for screening and identification of reactive metabolites of gentiopicroside in humans. Analytical and Bioanalytical Chemistry, 406, 1781–1793. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00216-013-7572-z
- Jund R, Mondigler M, Steindl H, Stammer H, Stierna P and Bachert C , 2012. Clinical efficacy of a dry extract of five herbal drugs in acute viral rhinosinusitis. Rhinology, 50, 417–426. https://doi.org/10.4193/Rhino.12.015 on behalf of the ARhiSi II study group.
- Mustafayeva K, Di Giorgio C, Elias R, Kerimov Y, Ollivier E and De Méo M, 2010. DNA-damaging, mutagenic, and clastogenic activities of gentiopicroside isolated from cephalaria kotschyi roots. Journal of Natural Products, 73, 99–103. https://doi.org/10.1021/np900322c
- Valenta Šobot A, Drakulić D, Joksić G, Miletić Vukajlović J, Savić J, Potočnik J and Filipović Tričković J, 2020. Yellow gentian root extract provokes concentration- and time-dependent response in peripheral blood mononuclear cells. Arhiv za Higijenu Rada I Toksikologiju, 71, 320–328. https://doi.org/10.2478/aiht-2020-71-3476
- Wang Z, Wang S, Sun Y, Wang H, Chen G, Wang X, Hattori M and Zhang H, 2014. New analytical method for the study of the metabolism of gentiopicroside in rats after oral administration by LC–TOF-MS following picolinoyl derivatization. Journal of Separation Science, 37, 237–243. https://doi.org/10.1002/jssc.201300898
- Wang Z, Tang S, Jin Y, Zhang Y, Hattori M, Zhang H and Zhang N, 2015. Two main metabolites of gentiopicroside detected in rat plasma by LC-TOF-MS following 2,4- dinitrophenylhydrazine derivatization. Journal of Pharmaceutical and Biomedical Analysis, 107, 1–6. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jpba.2014.12.003
- Wang C, Gong X, Bo A, Zhang L, Zhang M, Zang E, Zhang C and Li M, 2020. Iridoids: research advances in their phytochemistry, biological activities, and pharmacokinetics. Molecules, 25, 287, 24 pp. https://doi.org/10.3390/molecules25020287
- Wölfle U, Haarhaus B, Seiwerth J, Cawelius A, Schwabe K, Quirin KW and Schempp CH, 2017. The herbal bitter drug *Gentiana lutea* modulates lipid synthesis in human keratinocytes in vitro and in vivo. International Journal of Molecular Sciences, 18, 1814, 16 pp. https://doi.org/10.3390/ijms18081814
- Xiong K, Gao T, Zhang T, Wang Z and Han H, 2017. Simultaneous determination of gentiopicroside and its two active metabolites in rat plasma by LC-MS/MS and its application in pharmacokinetic studies. Journal of Chromatography B Analytical Technology in Biomedical and Life Sciences, 1065–1066, 1–7. https://doi.org/10. 1016/j.jchromb.2017.09.017
- Zeng W, Han H, Tao Y, Yang L, Wang Z and Chen K, 2013. Identification of bio-active metabolites of gentiopicroside by UPLC/Q-TOF MS and NMR. Biomed Chromatography, 27, 1129–1136. https://doi.org/10. 1002/bmc.2917

Abbreviations

bw	body weight
FEEDAP	EFSA Scientific Panel on Additives and Products or Substances used in Animal Feed
SC	EFSA Scientific Committee
πс	threshold of toxicological concern